IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

CHIEF Deputy Clerk

CHIEF Deputy Clerk

TGI FRIDAY'S, INC., a New York corporation, d/b/a TGI FRIDAY'S

Petitioner,

VS.

MARIE DVORAK,

Respondent.

Application For Discretionary Review Of A Decision Of The District Court Of Appeal, Fourth District, Certified To Be In Conflict With Another Decision

PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS

JOHN B. MARION, IV, ESQ. Sellars, Supran, Cole & Marion, P.A. P.O. Box 3767 West Palm Beach, FL 33402-3467 (407) 471-3300

and

MARJORIE GADARIAN GRAHAM Marjorie Gadarian Graham, P.A. Northbridge Centre, Suite 1704 515 N. Flagler Drive West Palm Beach, FL 33401 (407) 655-9146

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

This case concerns an order denying plaintiff's motions for taxation of attorney's fees and costs pursuant to Section 45.061, Florida Statutes (1987), Section 768.79(1), Florida Statutes (1987) and Rule 1.442, Florida Rules of Civil Procedure. This case arises out of a slip and fall accident which occurred at a TGI Friday's restaurant located in Fort Lauderdale. On April 20, 1987 Marie Dvorak went there to dine with her daughter and a friend. A hostess greeted them at the door and showed them to a table on the left side of the restaurant. Mrs. Dvorak's daughter did not want to sit there and informed the hostess that she would prefer to sit on the upper level of the restaurant in the bar area. The hostess accommodated the group. As the group walked back towards the entrance, Mrs. Dvorak's right foot went out from under her and she fell. Mrs. Dvorak, who was 62 at the time of the accident, broke her right hip.

The plaintiff instituted this personal injury action seeking damages from TGI Friday's, Atlantic Maintenance (the company responsible for cleaning the restaurant), Erwin Chemical Laboratories and Robert Erwin, individually, (the parties who tested the floor finish used on the restaurant floor), for the injuries she sustained in this accident. (A.1-11) In her fourth amended complaint, plaintiff alleged that TGI Friday's was negligent in failing to maintain its premises in a reasonably safe condition and in failing to correct the dangerous condition of the floor. Plaintiff alleged that Robert Erwin was negligent in failing to advise TGI Friday's that the floor finish he had tested was not slip resistant and was not satisfactory for use in a restaurant. By stipulation, Erwin Chemical Laboratories, Inc. was dismissed as a defendant.

Robert Erwin filed a motion for summary judgment. The trial court granted Robert Erwin's motion for summary judgment and entered summary

final judgment in his favor. TGI Friday's filed a notice of appeal seeking review of the summary judgment entered in favor of Robert Erwin. The Fourth District Court of Appeal reversed that summary judgment in *TGI Friday's v. Erwin Chemical Laboratories, Inc.*, 610 So.2d 30 (Fla. 4th DCA 1992).

Plaintiff's claims proceeded to trial against TGI Friday's and Atlantic Maintenance. At the conclusion of all the evidence, plaintiff voluntarily dismissed her claims against Atlantic Maintenance. The case was submitted to the jury on plaintiff's claims against TGI Friday's. The jury returned a verdict in favor of plaintiff and against TGI Friday's. (A.17-20) The court entered a judgment in the amount of \$248,000 in favor of the plaintiff based on this verdict.

TGI Friday's filed a timely notice of appeal seeking review of the final judgment for damages. The Fourth District Court of Appeal affirmed the final judgment entered in plaintiff's favor. *TGI Friday's v. Dvorak*, 4th DCA Case No. 91-01820.

Post-verdict the plaintiff filed motions for attorney's fees and costs pursuant to Sections 45.061 and 768.79, Florida Statutes, (1987) and pursuant to Rule 1.442. (A.547-552; 576-578; 579-581) TGI Friday's moved to strike the plaintiff's offers of judgment and settlement and filed a motion to determine plaintiff's entitlement to attorney's fees. (A.32-35) The trial court struck the requests for attorney's fees pursuant to Sections 45.061 and 768.79 on the grounds that the statutes were unconstitutional. The trial court held that Rule 1.442 could not be applied retroactively to this case. (A.84-87) In addition, the trial court made a fact finding that the offers of judgment were not unreasonably rejected. The trial judge who heard and determined the attorney's fee claims was the same judge who presided over the trial and much of the pretrial proceedings. He knew what the evidence was and how close the

liability issue was in this case. In rejecting the plaintiff's attorney's fee claim, he stated:

> 4. Even if §45.061 and §768.79, Florida Statues, were constitutional, and current Rule 1.442 could be retroactively applied in this matter, this Court is of the opinion that the Offers of Judgment made pursuant to the above-referenced Statutes and Rule of Civil Procedure were not unreasonably rejected by the Defendant, and, therefore, Plaintiff is not entitled to an award of attorney's fees pursuant of the guidelines set forth in current Rule 1.442 and the abovereferenced Statutes. Throughout this arduous, hotly contested nine day trial, this Court struggled with various rulings, now on appeal, involving the predicate for and admissibility of evidence; work product; hearsay; and other matters of law. In this Court's opinion, a decision by the Appellate Court on the issues raised during the trial of this cause will have far reaching importance beyond the scope of this cause. Moreover, several times throughout the trial of this cause this Court acknowledged that more guidance from the Appellate Courts on the issues raised was needed. The Court further notes that the plaintiff failed to adduce any evidence at trial that the subject floor, by itself, failed to meet slip resistance or building code standards of the community. As such, and based upon the foregoing this Court does not find that the Offers and Demands for Judgment were unreasonably rejected or resulted in an unreasonable delay and needless increase in the cost of litigation.

(R.87-88)

The plaintiff filed a notice of appeal seeking review of the court's order. (R.88) The Fourth District Court of Appeal reversed the denial of attorney's fees pursuant to Section 768.79, but affirmed the denial of fees under Section 45.061 and Rule 1.442. (A.41-44) On motion for rehearing, the Fourth District Court of Appeal certified conflict with the decision in Bridges v. Newton, 556 So.2d 1170 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1990). (A.61-65)

The defendants filed a timely notice to invoke the discretionary jurisdiction of this court. This court on June 20, 1994 entered its order postponing a decision on jurisdiction and setting a briefing schedule.

OUESTIONS PRESENTED

Ī.

Whether the decision of the Fourth District Court of Appeal directly and expressly conflicts with a decision of another Florida appellate court on the same question of law.

II.

Whether "reasonableness" of a party's action in rejecting a settlement offer is relevant in determining a party's entitlement to an award of attorney's fees pursuant to Section 768.79, Florida Statutes (1987).

Ш

Whether the Fourth District Court of Appeal erred in concluding that the 1987 version of section 768.79 is constitutional.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This court has jurisdiction to hear this cause on the merits. The decision of the Fourth District-Court of Appeal directly and expressly conflicts with decision of the Third District Court of Appeal in *Bridges v. Newton*, 556 So.2d 1170 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1990). That court implicitly held that under Section 768.79, Florida Statutes (1987) a trial court can deny attorneys fees to an offeror where the party acted reasonably in rejecting a settlement offer. The Fourth District Court of Appeal's decision that the trial court has no discretion in awarding attorneys fees under section 768.79, Florida Statutes (1987) is wrong. Under the statute the court may consider whether a party acted reasonably in rejecting a demand under the statute, and if the party acted reasonably, the trial court may decline to award an attorney's fee.

This court should consider the constitutionality of Section 768.79 and strike the statute as unconstitutional.

ARGUMENT

Ι.

Whether the decision of the Fourth District Court of Appeal directly and expressly conflicts with a decision of another Florida appellate court on the same question of law.

This Court has jurisdiction to hear this case on the merits because there is direct and express conflict with other Florida appellate decisions. The Fourth District Court of Appeal in its opinion on rehearing certified conflict with the decision in *Bridges v. Newton, supra*. In addition, examination of the decision shows there is conflict. "Conflict" exists when two decisions are wholly irreconcilable or when the decisions collide so as to create an inconsistency or conflict among the precedents. *Williams v. Duggan*, 153 So.2d 726 (Fla. 1963); *Kincaid v. World Insurance Co.*, 157 So.2d 517 (Fla. 1963). In *Nielsen v. City of Sarasota*, 117 SO.2d 731 (Fla. 1960), this Court explained that conflict jurisdiction may be invoked where the District Court of Appeal announces a rule of law which conflicts with a rule previously announced or where the District Court of Appeal applies a rule of law to produce a different result in a case which involves substantially the same controlling facts as a prior decision.

In holding that the plaintiff is entitled to an award of attorneys fees without regard to the reasonableness of defendant's conduct in rejecting the settlement offer made under Section 768.79, Florida Statutes (1987) the Fourth District Court of Appeal has applied a rule of law to produce a different result in a case which involves substantially the same controlling facts as the decision of the Third District Court of Appeal in *Bridges v. Newton, supra.*

In this case, on very similar facts, the Fourth District Court of Appeal has held that a party's action in rejecting a settlement offer or demand for judgment made pursuant to Section 768.79, Florida Statutes (1987) creates an entitlement to fees which may be defeated only upon a showing that the demand for judgment was made in good faith. This holding directly and expressly conflicts with the decision in *Bridges v. Newton*. This conflict ought to be resolved by this court. This court should quash the decision of the Fourth District Court of Appeal in this case and hold that "reasonableness" of a party's action in rejection of a demand for judgment made pursuant to Section 768.79, Florida Statutes (1987) is relevant in determining that party's entitlement to a fee award.

II.

Whether "reasonableness" of a party's action in rejecting a settlement offer is relevant in determining a party's entitlement to an award of attorney's fees pursuant to Section 768.79, Florida Statutes (1987).

In this case, the Fourth District Court of Appeal, relying on its decision in *Schmidt v. Fortner*, 629 So.2d 1036 (Fla. 4th DCA 1993), held that the trial court had no discretion to deny plaintiff's request for attorneys fees as a result of a demand for judgment made by plaintiff pursuant to Section 768.79(1), Florida Statutes (1987). In *Schmidt v. Fortner*, the Fourth District Court of Appeal analyzed the various provisions on Section 768.79, Florida Statutes (1991) and concluded that the statute creates an entitlement to attorneys fees which may be defeated *only* upon a showing that the demand for judgment was not made in good faith.

In *Schmidt* the beneficiaries of a testator's estate sued the former personal representative for alleged improprieties in handling the estate. Four months after suit was filed, the plaintiffs served a demand for judgment in the amount of \$500,000 under Rule 1.442, and Sections 45.061 and 768.79, Florida Statutes (1991). The jury returned a verdict of \$644,000 in favor of plaintiffs. The plaintiffs then moved for an award of attorneys fees. The trial court denied the motion.

On appeal, the Fourth District Court of Appeal construed the trial court's order on attorneys' fees as a finding that defendant's rejection was reasonable under the circumstances. The court held that even if the trial court's denial of fees was correct under Section 45.061, the finding of reasonable rejection was not dispositive of plaintiffs' entitlement to an award of attorneys' fees under Section 768.79.

The Fourth District Court of Appeal held that in enacting Section 768.79 "the legislature has created a mandatory right to attorneys' fees, if the statutory prerequisites have been met." 629 So.2d at 1040 The Fourth District Court of Appeal stated:

The statute begins by creating an 'entitlement' to fees. That entitlement may then lead to an 'award' of fees. That award may then be lost by a finding that the entitlement was created 'not in good faith,' or the amount of the award may be adjusted upward or downward by a consideration of statutory factors. That, in outline form, is how we read this statute. We explain in more detail in the following paragraphs.

To begin, the words 'shall be entitled' [e.s.] in subsection (1) quoted above cannot possibly have any meaning other than to create a right to attorney's fees when the two preceding prerequisites have been fulfilled: i.e., (1) when a party has served a demand or offer for judgment, and (2) that party has recovered a judgment at least 25 percent more or less than the demand or offer. These are the only elements of the statutory entitlement. No other factor is relevant in determining the question of entitlement. The court is faced with a simple, arithmetic, calculation. How that entitlement gets translated into tangible attorney's fees is covered by the process of an 'award.'

629 So.2d at 1040

The court then concluded that the factors enumerated in subsection (7)(b) pertain to the amount to be awarded, rather than entitlement to an award of attorneys' fees. In *Schmidt* the court analyzed the various factors set forth in the 1991 statute. That statute renumbered Section 768.79(2)(b) as Section 768.7(7)(b) and modified the language of that subsection slightly. The 1991 version construed in *Schmidt* specified in pertinent part:

(1) . . . If a plaintiff files a demand for judgment which is not accepted by the defendant within 30 days and the plaintiff recovers a judgment in an amount at least 25 percent greater than the offer, he shall be

entitled to recover reasonable costs and attorney's fees incurred from the date of the filing of the demand.

* * *

- (6) Upon motion made by the offeror within 30 days after the entry of judgment or after voluntary or involuntary dismissal, the court shall determine the following:
- (b) If a plaintiff serves an offer which is not accepted by the defendant, and if the judgment obtained by the plaintiff is a least 25 percent more than the amount of the offer, the plaintiff shall be awarded reasonable costs, including investigative expenses, and attorney's fees, calculated *in accordance with the guidelines promulgated by the Supreme Court,* incurred from the date the offer was served. (emphasis supplied)
- (7)(a) If a party is entitled to costs and fees pursuant to the provisions of this section, the court may, in its discretion, determine that an offer was not made in good faith. In such case, the court may disallow an award of cots and attorney's fees.
- (b) When determining the reasonableness of an award of attorney's fees pursuant to this section, the court shall consider, along with all other relevant criteria, the following additional factors:
- (1) The then apparent merit or lack of merit in the claim.
- (2) The number and nature of offers made by the parties.
- (3) The closeness of questions of fact and law at issue.
- (4) Whether the person making the offer had unreasonably refused to furnish information necessary to evaluate the reasonableness of such offer.
- (5) Whether the suit was in the nature of a test case presenting questions of far-reaching importance affecting nonparties.
- (6) The amount of the additional delay cost and expense that the person making the offer reasonably would be expected to incur if the litigation should be prolonged. (emphasis supplied)

In *Fortner* the Fourth District Court of Appeal rejected the contention that the word award as used in Section (7)(b) and entitlement "amount to the same thing, and thus the judge could use the enumerated factors of (7)(b) as the basis for denying all fees to an otherwise qualifying offeror." 629 So.2d at 1042 The Court's rationale for rejecting this argument was as follows:

In the first place, the term 'award' of fees in subsection (7)(b) obviously relates back to subsection (6)(b) where - as we have just seen - that term firs appears. There the legislature established the mechanism by which an entitlement is converted to an award of attorney's fees. Subjection (7)(b) proceeds on the notion that a party has successfully perfected a right or entitlement to fees and has properly qualified for an award under subsection (6) Moreover, in order to reach subsection (7)(b), the court must have already ruled out a disallowance of an award because of a finding of 'not made in good faith' under subsection (7)(a). The noun 'award' in (7)(b) therefore refers to the process of fixing the amount of the fee to which the qualifying plaintiff is already entitled. It has nothing to do with the entirely separate inquiry as to entitlement itself, which is an arithmetic calculation.

Secondly, the noun 'reasonableness' in subsection (7)(b) is modified only by the prepositional phrase, 'of an award'. It is thus the award of fees that must be reasonable, i.e., the determination of the amount of the fee, and not whether the entitlement is reasonable. Under this statute, the legislature did not give judges the discretion to determine whether it is reasonable to entitle qualifying plaintiffs to fees. Rather, it determined for itself that it is reasonable to entitle every offeror who makes a good faith offer (later rejected) 25 percent more or less than the judgment finally entered to an award of fees. Under subsection (7)(b), the court's discretion is directed by the statutory test solely to determining the reasonability of the amount of fees awarded; and that discretion is informed, at least partially, by the 6 factors thereafter listed in that subsection.

629 So.2d at 1042

The defendant respectfully submits that this analysis and conclusion that the "reasonableness" pertains only to the amount to be awarded, rather that the entitlement to an award is flawed and wrong.

The language "reasonableness of an award of attorney's fees" as used in subsection (7)(b) obviously relates to entitlement, and not to amount. The 1991 statute very clearly specifies in subsection 6(b) that the award of attorneys fees is to be "calculated in accordance with the guidelines promulgated by the Supreme Court." This is a reference to the relevant criteria for determining a reasonable fee amount as contained in the ethical guidelines. See, Florida Patient's Compensation Fund v. Rowe, 472 So.2d 1145 (Fla. 1985); Standard Guaranty Ins. Co. v. Quanstrom, 555 So.2d 828 (Fla. 1990) Rule 4-1.5(6) of the Rules of Professional Conduct promulgated by this court specifies as follows:

- (b) Facts to be Considered in Determining Reasonable Fee. Factors to be considered as guides in determining a reasonable fee include:
- (1) The time and labor required, the novelty, complexity, and difficulty of the questions involved, and the skill requisite to perform the legal service properly;
- (2) the likelihood that the acceptance of the particular employment will preclude other employment by the lawyer:
- (3) the fee, or rate of fee, customarily charged in the locality for legal services of a comparable or similar nature;
- (4) the significance of, or amount involved in, the subject matter of the representation, the responsibility involved in the representation, and the results obtained;
- (5) the time limitations imposed by the client or by the circumstances and, as between attorney and client, any additional or special time demands or requests of the attorney by the client.
- (6) the nature and length of the professional relationship with the client;

- (7) the experience, reputation, diligence, and ability of the lawyer or lawyers performing the services and the skill, expertise, or efficiency of effort reflected in the actual providing of such services; and
- (8) whether the fee is fixed or contingent, and, if fixed as to amount or rate, then whether the client's ability to pay rested to any significant degree on the outcome of the representation.

Comparison of the factors enumerated in subsection 7(b) of the 1991 statute with these factors to be considered in determining "the reasonableness of an award of attorney's fees" shows that the legislature could only have been referring to entitlement to an award of fees, rather than the amount of a reasonable fee. The merit or lack of merit of the claim is completely irrelevant to the amount to be awarded as a fee, as are the other five enumerated factors.

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