FILED

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA SID .I WHITE

NOV 2 1994

CASE NO.: 83,811

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By _____ Chief Deputy Clerk

TGI FRIDAY'S, INC., a New York corporation, d/b/a TGI FRIDAY'S

Petitioner,

vs.

MARIE D. DVORAK,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF AND CROSS-PETITION

DAN CYTRYN, ESQUIRE

Law Offices of Dan Cytryn, P.A. 8100 North University Drive Suite 202 Tamarac, Florida 33321 (305) 724-2000

Attorney for Respondent

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

Defendant TGI Friday's argues that the word "award" as used in section 768.79(2)(b) means the same thing as the word entitlement used in subsection (6)(b) of the 1991 version of the statute². [The Fourth District Court of Appeal in their opinion referred to the subsection as (7)(b). For all intents and purposes, subsection (2)(b) and subsection (7)(b) are the same under both the 1987 version and the 1990 amendment, and will be referred to in this brief by indicating both of the sections].

"It is a fundamental principle of statutory construction that where the language of a statute is plain and unambiguous, there is no occasion for judicial interpretation." *Forsythe v. Longboat Key Beach Erosion Control District*, 604 So.2d 452, 454 (Fla. 1992). Plaintiff is unsure whether this Court will deem this statute to be "plain and unambiguous." Therefore, Plaintiff will address Defendant's and amicus' contentions in this brief and will set forth the relevant law pertaining to statutory construction and interpretation.

Defendant's argument that the word "award" means the same thing as the word

² Plaintiff agrees that the statute at issue here is the 1987 version. In the 1987 version, the word award is in subsection (2)(b) and entitlement (entitle) is in subsection (1)(a). The language in the two versions with regard to "award" and entitlement did not change.

entitlement ignores several basic rules of statutory construction³. "The legislative use of different terms in different portions of the same statute is strong evidence that different meanings were intended." *Department of Professional Regulation, Board of Medical v. Durrani*, 455 So.2d 515, 518 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984). Had the legislature intended subsection (2)(b)[(7)(b)] to refer to an *entitlement* to fees, the legislature would have used the word *entitlement* in subsection (2)(b)[(7)(b)], and would not have chosen a word that is universally associated with determining the *amount* of a fee, i.e., "reasonableness".

The word "reasonableness" in subsection (2)(b)[(7)(b)] relates back to section (1)(a) [section 1 of the 1990 version]⁴ which states "[h]e shall be entitled to recover *reasonable* costs and attorney's fees" (emphasis added.) Following the word "reasonableness", the legislature sets forth the criteria for the court to use in awarding a reasonable attorney's fee.

That brings the second rule of statutory construction into play:

[W]hen statutes employ exactly the same words or phrases, the legislature is assumed to intend the same meaning. *Goldstein v.* Acme Concrete Corp., 103 So.2d 202 (Fla. 1958). See also Medical Center Hosp. v. Bowen, 811 F.2d 1448 (11th Cir. 1987): [There is a presumption that the same words used in different parts of an act have the same meaning].

Schorb v. Schorb, 547 So.2d 985, 987 (Fla. 2d DCA 1989). Use of the word reasonable, or any form thereof ("reasonableness") in subsection (2)(b)[(7)(b)], taken in light of the use of that word reasonable in subsection (1) in the context of reasonable attorney's fees, delineates that

³ Incredulously, despite this entire case riding on the statutory construction of this statute, Defendant does not cite one rule of statutory construction.

⁴ Subsection (1)(a) of the 1986 version and subsection (1) of the 1990 version are for all intents and purposes the same, and will be referred to interchangeably throughout this brief.

subsection (2)(b)[(7)(b)] refers to a determination as to the amount of a fee, and not a determination as to entitlement. Subsection (1) states that a party is entitled to recover "reasonable costs and attorney's fees", and subsection (2)(b)[(7)(b)] tells the court how to determine the "reasonableness" of the attorney's fee.

Further, subsection (1)(a) is the section dealing with entitlement, and subsection (2)(a)[(7)(a)] is the section dealing with good faith. Subsection (2)(a)[(7)(a)] uses the word "entitled", as does subsection (1)(a). Subsection (2)(a)[(7)(a)] therefore creates an exception to entitlement, i.e., if "an offer of judgment was not made in good faith." However, both the words "good faith" and "entitle" are glaringly missing from subsection (2)(b)[(7)(b)]. "When the legislature has carefully employed a term in one section of a statute and has excluded it in another, it should not be implied where excluded." *Bott v. American Hydrocarbon Corp.*, 458 F.2d 229, 233 (5th Cir. 1972). The fact that the legislature excluded the words "good faith" and "entitled" from subsection (2)(b)[(7)(b)] does not pertain to entitlement. The legislature very simply would have said "when considering entitlement" or "in determining whether a party acted in good faith", and not "when determining the reasonableness of an award of attorney's fees " As was said in *U.S. v. Wong Kim Bo*, 472 F.2d 720, 722 (5th Cir. 1972):

Where Congress includes particular language in one section of the same Act, it is generally presumed that Congress acts intentionally and purposefully in the disparate inclusion or exclusion.

Defendant next argues that the factors in subsection (2)(b)[(7)(b)] "obviously relates to entitlement, and not to amount." (Petitioner's brief, page 12). Those factors do not relate to entitlement, but are items which the court must consider "[a]long with all other relevant criteria

... " [subsection (2)(b)[(7)(b)] in determining a reasonable attorney's fee [See, e.g., *Florida Patient's Compensation Fund v. Rowe*, 472 So.2d 1145 (Fla. 1985), and Rule 4-1.5(6) of the Florida Rules of Professional Conduct]. What happened is that the legislature wanted to be certain that the determination of a reasonable attorney's fee took into consideration the six factors set forth in subsection (2)(b)[(7)(b)].

The legislature is presumed to know the law as it exists when it passes a new law on the subject. See, *Adler-Built Industries, Inc. v. Metropolitan Dade County*, 231 So.2d 197 (Fla. 1970) (citing *Collins Investment Co. v. Metropolitan Dade County*, 164 So.2d 806 (Fla. 1964)). It is very likely that these factors set forth in subsection (2)(b)[(7)(b)] were intended by the legislature to modify and clarify the law with regard to the "multiplier" as set forth in *Rowe* with regard to the determination of a reasonable fee under this statute. In other words, for example, a plaintiff might otherwise be entitled to a multiplier calculated pursuant to the rationale of *Rowe*, and *Standard Guaranty Insurance Company v. Quanstrom*, 555 So.2d 828 (Fla. 1990). The legislature wanted to make certain that certain additional factors over and above those factors set forth in *Rowe* were taken into consideration in awarding a reasonable fee, and if, for example, the case was a "test-case", the fee would be increased or decreased accordingly. See, e.g., *Palma v. State Farm Fire and Casualty Co.*, 489 So.2d 147 (Fla. 4th DCA 1986), rev. den., 496 So.2d 143 (Fla. 1986), appeal after remand, 524 So.2d 329 (Fla. 4th DCA 1988), approved, 555 So.2d 836 (Fla. 1990), appeal after remand, 585 So.2d 329 (Fla. 4th DCA 1981).

For example, contrary to Defendant's contention, factor number 1: the "[m]erit or lack of merit in the claim", is very relevant to the amount to be awarded as a fee. If the merit of the case should have been readily apparent to a defendant who refused plaintiff's offer of judgment, then the attorney's fee award should be enhanced. Conversely, if the merit of the claim was not readily apparent to the party at the time the offer was rejected, that would be a factor weighing against enhancement of the fee.

Another key point of statutory construction mitigating against Defendant's argument is that if subsection (2)(b)[(7)(b)] did refer to entitlement, that subsection would have referred to "costs", in addition to attorney's fees. Subsection 1(a) refers to *costs* and fees, section (2)(a)[(7)(a)] states that if a party's offer is not in good faith, the party may not get "*costs* and fees", but section (2)(b)[(7)(b)] makes *no reference* to the word costs. If subsection (2)(b)[(7)(b)] was intended to refer to entitlement, and not just to the determination of the amount of attorney's fees, why was the word "costs" missing from that section speaking about reasonableness? The answer is that reasonableness has always referred to the *amount* of an attorney's fees, and since the subsection doesn't deal with entitlement, there is no need to mention costs because items one through six are criteria for the court to consider in determining the amount of fees. Further, the word "reasonable" has always been used by the legislature and the Florida courts to refer to the determination of the amount of attorney's fees, and not as to entitlement.

Under Defendant's interpretation, a defendant who gets a verdict against them, which verdict is twenty-five percent less than the offer made by that defendant, may not necessarily be entitled to fees, but will be automatically entitled to costs, even if the plaintiff obtains a verdict against the defendant, because the word "costs" is not in subsection (2)(b)[(7)(b)]. "It is axiomatic that all parts of a statute must be read *together* in order to achieve a consistent whole." *Forsythe*, at 455. Further, the 1990 amendment requires the award of "investigative"

expenses" if the party rejecting the offer is off by more than 25 percent [section 768.79(6)]. Under Defendant's interpretation, investigative expenses will also automatically be awarded against a party who wrongly rejected the offer, but attorney's fees will not. As was stated in *Wakulla County v. Davis*, 395 So.2d 540, 543 (Fla. 1981):

"[T]he law favors a rationale, sensible construction. *Realty Bond & Share Co. v. Englar*, 104 Fla. 329, 143 So.152 (1932). Courts are to avoid an interpretation of a statute which would produce unreasonable consequences."

Determining that it is unreasonable to award fees to an offeror who did 25 percent better than the offer, but then mandating an award of investigative expenses and otherwise untaxable investigative expenses to the offeror leads to an absurd result which could not have reasonably been intended by the legislature.

Defendant argues that the language in subsection (6)(a) of the 1990 version of the statute that states that the award of "reasonable costs, including investigative expenses and attorney's fees, [shall be] calculated in accordance with the guidelines promulgated by the Supreme Court \dots " reflects that subsection [(7)(b)](2)(b) relates to entitlement. First, this 1990 amendment is not the version that is at issue in this case. Second, subsection (2)(b)[(7)(b)] specifically states that the court, when determining an award of fees, shall consider the six "additional factors". The "additional factors" are criteria which the legislature felt were essential in the determination of the amount of a reasonable attorney's fee. Further, the words in subsection (2)(b)[(7)(b)] "[t]he court shall consider, along with all other relevant criteria, the following additional factors \dots ." reflects that the legislature was aware that there was "other criteria" that a court had to consider in determining the amount of a reasonable attorney's fee, over and above "[t]he guidelines promulgated by the Supreme Court \dots ." Further, the words "calculated in accordance with the guidelines promulgated by the Supreme Court . . . " modify the words "[s]hall be awarded reasonable costs, including investigative expenses, and attorney's fees, . . . " Under this punctuation, "costs" also must be "[c]alculated in accordance with the guidelines promulgated by the Supreme Court" The comma after the words "attorney's fees" indicates that intention^{5,6.}

The "additional factors" would also have been relevant regarding whether to award costs, however, the legislature's omission of any reference to costs in subsection (7)(b) clearly indicates that that subsection is not an entitlement section, but are "additional factors" for the court to consider in determining the amount of a reasonable attorney's fee. If the legislature had intended that subsection (2)(b)[(7)(b)] deal with entitlement, they would logically have added the word "costs" to that subsection.

Defendant then embarks on a discussion of Rule 1.442 of the Florida Rules of Civil Procedure that is irrelevant to section 768.79 and to the issues in this case. That Rule was adopted on January 1, 1990 [*The Florida Bar re Amendment to Rules*, 550 So.2d 442 (Fla. 1989)], and it survived only two and a half years [repealed in *Timmons v. Combs*, 608 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1992)]. The rule was an attempt to reconcile conflicts between section 768.79, which

⁵ "[T]he Legislatures of our country have consistently attempted to follow the rules dictated by the grammar books with the result that statutes now are punctuated prior to enactment." *Wagner v. Botts*, 88 So.2d 611, 613 (Fla. 1956).

⁶ "The legislature is presumed to know the meaning of words and the rules of grammar, and the only way the court is advised of what the legislature intends is by giving the generally accepted construction, not only to the phraseology of an act but to the manner in which it is punctuated." *Florida State Racing Commission et al. v. Bourquardez*, 42 So.2d 87, 88 (Fla. 1949).

is a mandatory fee statute, and section 45.061, which is not a mandatory statute, but which applies a statutory presumption. The adoption and interpretation of Rule 1.442 has nothing to do with the intent of the legislature when they adopted section 768.79 as part of the 1986 Tort Reform Act. Defendant argues that the Fourth District Court of Appeal was wrong in its interpretation of section 768.79 in *Schmidt v. Fortner*, 629 So.2d 1036 (Fla. 4th DCA 1993). At the time of the writing of this brief, seven members of the Fourth DCA agreed with the interpretation of *Schmidt* without dissent (including the Honorable Harry Anstead, now a member of this Court). See *Schmidt, Dvorak v. TGI Friday's*, 639 So.2d 58 (Fla. 4th DCA 1994), and *Aitken v. Gajadha*, 636 So.2d 766 (Fla. 4th DCA 1994), and the rationale of *Schmidt* was recently adopted by the Second DCA in *Government Employees Insurance Company v. Thompson*, 641 So.2d 189 (Fla. 2d DCA 1994), and the First District Court of Appeal in *Mark C. Arnold Construction Co. v. National Lumber, Inc.*, 19 Fla. L. Weekly, D1714 (Fla. 1st DCA August 12, 1994). The Fifth DCA also seems to have adopted the same interpretation as the Fourth in *Williams v. Brochu*, 578 So.2d 491, 494 (Fla. 5th DCA 1991):

Because the plaintiff's judgment obtained for damages was 1,200, which was at least 25% less than the amount of the first Offer of Judgment (i.e., 1,200 is less than 1,500 which is 25% less than 2,000), the defendant was entitled to recover attorney's fees under that statute based on the plaintiff's failure to accept the first Offer of Judgment.

The only contrary interpretation and the only district holding otherwise is found in *Bridges v*. *Newton*, 556 So.2d 1170 (Fla. 3d DCA 1990), which holding is distinguished for two reasons:

1. The court held that the offer was not made in good faith because the plaintiff herself felt that the offer was inadequate and in fact tried to extricate herself from it; whereas in our case there was no contention that the offer was not made in good faith, and;

2. Because *Bridges* was decided upon an interpretation that the lack of good faith exception applies to both offers of judgment and demands for judgment, it was unnecessary for that court to reach the interpretation of section 768.79(2)(b), and therefore what was said there is dicta. See, *Schmidt*.

Further, Defendant argues that *Schmidt* is irrelevant because our case involves the 1987 version of the statute, and *Schmidt* involves the 1990 version. However, that argument lacks merit because the relevant portions of the statutes at issue are the same for all intents and purposes. The major purpose of the 1990 redaction was to add more definitive procedural aspects.

Defendant next argues that the *Schmidt* rationale does not apply because "the only reference to an award of fees in the 1987 statute is made in subsection (1)(a) and refers to an award of damages to the plaintiff." (Petitioner's brief, page 16). Wrong. The word "award" is also found in subsection (2)(a) of the 1987 version [and also in the 1990 amendment in subsection (7)(a)]. Further, the Fourth District Court of Appeal has also applied the *Schmidt* rationale to the 1987 version of the statute. *Aitken*, supra.

Amicus argues that the use of the word "shall" in the statute connotes a "directory, rather than mandatory . . . " context. This issue was not raised by TGI Friday's in either the trial court or in the Fourth District Court of Appeal. It has been held by this Court that an

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